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Money Laundering
Defense After Santos
And Regalado Cuellar
Money, it’s a crime.
— Pink Floyd1
or some time, prosecutors and money laundering
charges have had a romantic relationship. For many
years, the breadth of the statute was matched only
by its draconian sentencing guideline ranges. In 2001,
the Sentencing Commission amended U.S.S.G. § 2S1.1
to tie offense levels for money laundering more closely to
the underlying conduct that was the source of the criminally derived funds.2 Many expected that this amendment would eviscerate the plea bargaining leverage that
prosecutors obtained when they included such charges
in an indictment, and as a result, there would be a precipitous decrease in the number of
money laundering cases brought.
But, for reasons that are unclear,
prosecutors continued to charge
money laundering even in “minerun” cases.3 Fortunately, recent
developments, including most significantly the Supreme Court
money laundering decisions during its 2007-08 term, may signal a
sea change in how courts interpret
the statute and, therefore, how
prosecutors charge it.
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In this article, we address two issues that defense
attorneys should be aware of in any money laundering
case. The first issue, as a result of the Supreme Court’s
decision in United States v. Santos,4 is that the financial
transaction that allegedly constitutes the “laundering”
must involve the profits, not merely the receipts, of a criminal operation.5 From a defense perspective, the primary
significance of this holding is that it bolsters the argument
that financial transactions that are part and parcel of the
underlying criminal activity cannot likely serve as the
basis for a separate money laundering conviction. The
second issue, which is derived from the Supreme Court’s
holding in United States v. Regalado Cuellar,6 applies to
cases brought under 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) (involving intent to conceal). Specifically, to be guilty of concealment money laundering, the defendant’s purpose in
engaging in a financial transaction or transporting money
abroad must be to “conceal or disguise” the nature, location, source, ownership or control of those funds.7 The
holding in Regalado Cuellar means that the inevitable
effort to conceal every crime from law enforcement does
not transform every financial transaction or transportation involving criminally derived
funds into money laundering.
While the Court’s decisions
are heavily grounded in statutory
construction, the holdings also
reflect a concern, long held by
defense attorneys, that the money
laundering statute is being used
abusively by prosecutors. These
developments will provide substantial defense ammunition at the pretrial, Rule 29, and jury instruction
stages of a money laundering case.
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I. The Distinction, or Lack
Thereof, Between the
Underlying Crime and the
Financial Transaction

(ii) with intent to engage in conduct constituting a violation of section 7201 or 7206 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986; or
(B) knowing that the transaction
is designed in whole or in part —
(i) to conceal or disguise the
nature, the location, the source,
the ownership, or the control of
the proceeds of specified unlawful
activity; or
(ii) to avoid a transaction
reporting requirement under state or
federal law.21
While § 1956 requires one of the
enumerated intents to be convicted (e.g.,
intent to promote certain criminal
activity or intent to conceal the proceeds), § 1957 includes no such specific
intent. Rather, in essence, § 1957 criminalizes any “monetary transaction”
involving the “proceeds” of specified
unlawful activity, assuming that the person engaging in the transaction knows
that the proceeds are from some form of
criminal activity and the amount of the
transaction exceeds $10,000.22

A. The Statutes

B. The Decision in Santos

The Money Laundering Control Act
of 19869 allows the government to reach
financial transactions and profits from
specified unlawful activities.10 The legislation was designed to penalize financial
transactions connected to organized crime
and narcotics trafficking,11 and targeted
the means by which proceeds of illicit
activities were cleansed and changed into a
“useable form.”12 Despite these lofty objectives, in practice, prosecutors have relied
on the Act to charge individuals who have
committed crimes generating financial
proceeds and then engaged in the most
pedestrian of financial transactions.13
The government must prove four
elements to convict a person of money
laundering under § 1956.14 First, the person must conduct or attempt to conduct
a financial transaction.15 Second, the
transaction must in fact involve the proceeds of specified unlawful activity.16 The
offenses constituting “specified unlawful
activity” extend well beyond organized
crime and narcotics trafficking to include
fraud,17 bribery,18 gambling, counterfeit
merchandise, and copyright infringement.19 Third, the person must have
knowledge that the proceeds resulted
from some form of unlawful activity.20
Fourth, the person must act:

In United States v. Santos, the Court’s
fractured decision held that the term
“proceeds” in 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(i)
(promotional money laundering) referred
to the profits from criminal activities and
not merely the receipts.23 There, the
underlying criminal activity was gambling. The defendant ran a lottery operation where money was taken from gamblers and a certain portion of those funds
was kept by employees of the operation
(e.g., runners) or paid to winners.24 The
question before the Court was whether
these payments to employees and to the
winners constituted criminally derived
“proceeds” under the money laundering
statute. Justice Antonin Scalia, writing for
the Court, held that the term “proceeds”
as used in § 1956 could mean either gross
revenues (i.e., receipts) or profits. Based
on the rule of lenity, the tie went to the
defendant and, therefore, the “profits” definition was adopted.25 Since the payments
to the employees and winners could not
be fairly characterized as involving the
gambling operation’s profits, the money
laundering convictions were reversed.26
It appears that a driving force behind
the Court’s decision was the disproportionate penalty imposed for the money
laundering convictions. Although the
payments that served as the basis for the
money laundering charges were clearly
inextricably linked to, and indistinguishable from, the gambling operation itself,27

(A)(i) with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified
unlawful activity; or
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The government suggests no
explanation for why Congress
would have wanted a transaction that is a normal part of a
crime it had duly considered and
appropriately punished elsewhere in the Criminal Code to
radically increase the sentence
for that crime. Interpreting
“proceeds” to mean “profits”
eliminates the merger problem.31
While the Court was quite fractured
in its ruling and the case produced one
concurrence and two dissents, none of the
justices defended the rationality of such
disproportionate punishment.32
Santos will have a radical impact on
how money laundering cases are prosecuted. Transactions that “normally
occur” during the course of committing
a particular crime are likely “not identifiable uses of profits and thus do not
violate the money laundering statute.”33
“[P]aying the expenses of [ ] illegal
activity cannot possibly violate the
money laundering statute, because by
definition profits consist of what
remains after expenses are paid.
Defraying an activity’s costs with its
receipts simply will not be covered.”34
Based on this reasoning, Santos would
seem to stand for the remarkable proposition that distributions to co-conspirators are outside the money laundering
statute and that only financial transactions involving an individual’s or entity’s
take home profit from criminal activities
(after paying all expenses) can qualify as
money laundering.
While the plurality opinion attempts
to provide guidance as to how “profits” can
be determined,35 it is clear from Justice
Alito’s dissent that in many cases this burden will be extremely difficult for the government to meet.36 Indeed, Justice Alito
provides a roadmap to defense attorneys
of all of the problems that the government
SEPTEMBER 2008
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Prior to the Court’s decision in Santos,
the threshold issue for defense attorneys to
consider in any money laundering case
was whether there was a sufficient distinction between the underlying conduct that
allegedly generated the proceeds used in
the financial transaction and the financial
transaction itself. In Santos, the Court did
an end-run on the substantial body of law
discussing this distinction, and held that
what it called the “merger problem”8
would be largely avoided if the definition
of “proceeds” in the money laundering
statute is limited to illegal “profits” from,
and not merely receipts of, a criminal
operation. In so doing, the Court did not
reject the pre-existing law requiring that
the charged financial transaction not be
merely incidental to the underlying criminal activity, but it did change the landscape for defendants and defense attorneys seeking to challenge a broad application of the money laundering statute.

Santos received a 60-month sentence for
the gambling charges, 18 U.S.C. § 1955,
but a 210-month sentence for the money
laundering charges.28 The majority opinion recognized that the “receipts” theory
of money laundering would turn every
violation of a gambling statute into a
money laundering case because paying a
winning bettor is a transaction involving
“receipts” from the criminal operation.29
This problem is far from unique to gambling cases because “few crimes are entirely free of cost and costs are not always paid
in advance.”30 Justice Scalia saw this more
restrictive definition of “proceeds” as a
way of eliminating this “merger problem”:
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will now face in trying to establish that a
financial transaction involved “proceeds.”37
These proof problems are already
beginning to play out. For example, in one
of the first district court opinions applying Santos, the court vacated a money
laundering conviction of a doctor accused
of defrauding Medicaid based on his payment of business expenses for building
and equipment rent and dental supplies
because these payments were not from
“proceeds.”38 Similarly, in a case involving
the alleged theft of government funds, the
defendant shortly after the issuance of
Santos filed a pretrial motion to dismiss
the money laundering charge. The court
noted that dismissal was premature but at
the time of trial, the government will have
to prove “whether all or some part of the
monies (the ‘proceeds’) paid to [the
defendant] were profits.”39
In invoking Santos, the defense attorney must be mindful of Justice Stevens’
concurring opinion and the limited
nature of the holding. While Justice
Stevens agreed that with regard to the
gambling statute at issue in that case,
“proceeds” could only mean “profits,” he
noted that “it seems clear that Congress
could have provided that the term ‘proceeds’ shall have one meaning when referring to some specified unlawful activities
and a different meaning when referring to
others.”40 Thus, the government will likely
argue that while “proceeds” means “profits” when gambling is the specified unlawful activity, it means “receipts” with regard
to other specified unlawful activities.41
Justice Scalia, writing for the three
remaining justices from the plurality
(Justice Thomas not having joined
Section IV of the opinion), strongly suggested that the statute could not be parsed
in this manner,42 but recognized that
Justice Stevens’ concurrence limited the
Court’s holding.43 Still, Justice Scalia
emphatically contended that Justice
Stevens’ “speculations” constitute “the
purest of dicta, and form no part of
today’s holding.”44 Justice Scalia further
cautioned that while counsel are free to
argue Justice Stevens’ view, “not only do
the justices joining this opinion reject that
view, but so also (apparently) do the justices joining” Justice Alito’s dissent.45 As
noted in the preceding paragraph, district
courts thus far have not limited the Santos
holding to gambling cases.46

C.Traditional Challenges to
‘Incidental’ Money Laundering
Charges After Santos
While it is clear in gambling cases
that “proceeds” only means profits, in
light of Justice Stevens’ concurrence,
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there remains some ambiguity about the
definition of “proceeds” when the charges
involve other specified unlawful activity.
As noted in the preceding section, there is
certainly strong language in the portion
of the opinion (Section IV) suggesting
that “proceeds” should be uniformly
defined throughout the money laundering statute, but there is also recognition
that this section of the opinion does not
constitute binding precedent because it is
only joined by three of the justices.47
Given this somewhat limited holding in
Santos, counsel must be prepared to
argue alternatively that financial transactions that are merely incidental to the
underlying specified unlawful activity
cannot serve as the basis for separate
money laundering charges. In other
words, the “merger problem” can, and
should, serve as an independent basis to
challenge money laundering charges
regardless of the particular definition of
“proceeds” employed by the court.
In dissent, Justice Breyer noted that
the “merger problem” could be solved by
holding that the money laundering offense
and the underlying offense “must be distinct in order to be separately punished.”48
The majority rejected this approach, noting in dicta that “the insuperable difficulty
with this solution is that it has no basis
whatever in the words of the statute.”49 But,
in fact, there is support in the statutory
text, the legislative history, and due process
principles to find that there must be a sufficient distinction between the underlying
criminal activity and the financial transaction serving as the basis for the money
laundering charge.50
The statutory language in § 1956
and § 1957 recognizes a distinction
between the “laundering transaction”
and the crime that generated the proceeds used in that transaction. Both
statutes require that the financial transaction involve the proceeds of specified
unlawful activity. In other words, to
commit a violation of either statute, the
criminally derived proceeds must have
been obtained before the commencement of the financial transaction and the
financial transaction must not merely be
incidental to that underlying crime.
Further, the legislative history makes
clear that Congress “intended the money
laundering statute to be a separate crime
distinct from the underlying offense that
generated the money to be laundered.”51
Specifically, the Senate report on the bill
reflects that the statute was designed to fill
in the “gap in the criminal law with respect
to the post-crime hiding of ill-gotten
gains.”52 The statute was designed to punish conduct not already covered by the

criminal statutes; namely, “conduct that
follows in time the underlying crime rather
than to afford an alternative means of
punishing the prior ‘specified unlawful
activity.’”53 But, it is not just this temporal
distinction that is important because
“Congress intended to prevent an ill other
than those already prohibited by other
laws.”54 For example, “the statute should
not be interpreted to make any drug transaction a money laundering crime” because
a financial transaction is invariably related
to the underlying act of distribution.55
Moreover, where the line is blurred
and the financial transaction and predicate act are based on the same transaction,
double jeopardy concerns are implicated.56 This is what the Santos court refers to
as the “merger problem.” Thus, courts
have reversed convictions under both §§
1956 and 1957 where the underlying
crime and the financial transaction converge or substantially overlap. However,
before one aggressively pursues this argument, it is important to recognize the existence of a line of cases where this distinction is largely ignored.
For example, in United States v.
Paramo, the Third Circuit affirmed the
defendant’s § 1956 conviction even
though he was promoting “an already
completed unlawful activity.”57 There,
the defendant perpetrated a mail fraud
scheme that resulted in his receipt of IRS
tax refund checks payable to a fictitious
individual that were deposited in the
bank.58 None of the roughly $204,000 in
proceeds were used to perpetrate further
fraud, but rather were used to help pay
bills and personal expenses.59 The Third
Circuit concluded that Paramo promoted the previously completed mail fraud
because he “[created] value out of an
otherwise unremunerative enterprise.”60
In other words, by depositing the proceeds from the fraud and spending that
money, he “promoted” the already completed mail fraud.
Paramo also illustrates the limitations of Santos. Even if the “profits” analysis applies where the specified unlawful
activity is mail fraud, this would not seem
to change the outcome in Paramo. Thus,
contrary to the Court’s suggestion in
Santos,61 the adoption of the “profit” definition of proceeds does not by itself solve
the “merger problem.”
The Third Circuit in Paramo relied
heavily on the prior Ninth Circuit decision in United States v. Montoya. In that
case, the Ninth Circuit concluded that
state legislator Joseph Montoya promoted
a $3,000 bribery payment by simply
depositing the check into his personal
bank account.62 Furthermore, depositing
THE CHAMPION
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money is moved.72 Thus, in Christo, the
bank fraud was not complete until Bay
Bank paid $25,000 to SouthTrust Bank.73
Accordingly, the court held that the withdrawal of funds to execute the uncompleted bank fraud could not promote the
underlying crime because they were “one
and the same.”74 Again, it is unclear how
Santos improves this situation for the
defendant. Although there may be some
incidental expenses, it would seem that
the check kiting scheme involves mostly
“profits” and not receipts.
The decision in Christo has broad
applicability where mail, wire, or bank
fraud charges serve as the specified unlawful activity in a money laundering case. It
will often be the case that the financial
transaction is part and parcel of the
scheme itself, rather than something that
follows completion of the scheme.
The Seventh Circuit analyzed this
specific issue somewhat differently in
Mankarious where the defendants’ money
laundering convictions were based on
mail fraud.75 The court adopted the analysis of the Eleventh Circuit in Christo, but
noted that unlike bank and wire fraud,
mail fraud often involves a mailing long
after the proceeds from the fraud are generated, and that in these anomalous circumstances, the proceeds from the fraud
can serve as the basis for a money laundering charge even if the financial transaction occurs before any mailing.76 The
court also characterized the relevant issue
as when the proceeds were generated, not
when the scheme was completed.77 From
this perspective, because “the defendants’
schemes generated proceeds and then [the
defendants] committed separate acts to
launder those proceeds[,] … it does not
matter when all the acts constituting the
predicate offense take place. It matters
only that the predicate offense has produced proceeds in transactions distinct
from those transactions allegedly constituting money laundering.”78
It is difficult to fully reconcile the
Mankarious holding with the one in
Christo, and difficult to comprehend how
mail fraud can serve as a predicate offense
for money laundering when, by the
court’s own analysis, the mail fraud crime
has not been completed before the financial transaction. Still, the holding in
Mankarious seems limited to the somewhat unusual situation of a mail fraud
that generates proceeds before any mailing occurs.79 Indeed, the Seventh Circuit
noted that its decision was not inconsistent with the Tenth Circuit’s in Kennedy
because the mailing in that case occurred
before the financial transaction that constituted money laundering.80 While it is

convenient for future defendants that the
Seventh Circuit took such pains to limit
its holding to the particular facts of that
case, it should be noted that the underlying holding in Mankarious is, in fact, at
odds with the one in Kennedy. There, the
Tenth Circuit held: “All that is required to
violate § 1956 is a transaction meeting the
statutory criteria that takes place after the
underlying crime has been completed.”81
Finally, even in the cases sustaining
convictions, courts often at least pay lip
service to the well-established proposition
that there must be a sufficient distinction
between the underlying crime generating
the proceeds and the financial transaction
constituting money laundering.82 In these
cases, the courts creatively analyze the
facts to demonstrate that there was some
separation between the underlying crime
and the financial transaction.83
While Santos will certainly help
many defendants, it is clear that merely
interpreting proceeds to mean profits will
not solve the merger problem that was so
prominently featured in each of the
Court’s four opinions. Defense counsel
will want to rely on the strong language in
Santos expressing condemnation of
enhanced punishment for individuals
who do nothing more than commit the
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the check allowed Montoya to classify the
funds as a legitimate honorarium.63
According to the court, Montoya “promoted” the bribe because he could not
have used the money without depositing
the check, even though the bribe had
already been completed when he received
it.64 Again, it is unclear how Santos would
have impacted the holding in Montoya
given that the check constituting the bribe
would likely be considered the legislator’s
criminal “profit.”
Other courts have disagreed with this
broad reading and taken a more defendant-friendly view of the distinction
between the underlying crime and the
financial transaction. For example, the
Fourth Circuit asserted in United States v.
Heaps that simply receiving “a money
transfer and the subsequent placement of
cash in a box” cannot promote an unlawful activity under § 1956.65 There, the
defendant’s wife cashed a $2,000 wire
transfer made payable to her as payment
for drugs the defendant previously sold;
she put the cash in a money box.66 The
Fourth Circuit concluded that the only
crime Heaps committed was selling
drugs.67 Because “Congress intended to
prevent an ill other than those already prohibited by other laws,” the court expressly
rejected the proposition that every time
drugs are distributed the financial transaction that invariably accompanies or follows that distribution “promotes” the
underlying crime of drug distribution.68
While the Fourth Circuit’s analysis in
Heaps is straightforward and easy to
apply, Santos introduces another factor
into the equation. The $2,000 received by
the wife might be the gross revenue from
the sale, but it also presumably included
some degree of profit. It remains unclear
after Santos whether the mere act of paying for the drugs or a subsequent financial
transaction with the $2,000 would constitute money laundering, at least to the
extent of the profit obtained from that
particular transaction.
Similarly, the Eleventh Circuit held
that that in bank fraud cases, “the underlying criminal activity must be complete
before money laundering can occur.”69 In
Christo, a check kiting case, the defendant
wrote checks from a business account
(which did not have sufficient funds to
cover the $25,000 checks) at Bay Bank to
make loan payments at SouthTrust
Bank.70 As with the mail and wire fraud
statutes, the bank fraud statute prohibits a
“scheme or artifice to defraud.”71 The
Eleventh Circuit held that the crime of
bank fraud is not completed until there is
an “‘execution’” of the plan to deceive, and
this execution does not occur until the

✦ Analysis of Results of Blood,
Urine, & Hair Drug Tests
✦ Cocaine/Narcotics Issues:
Possession vs. Personal Use
✦ Dram Shop &
Vehicular Homicide
✦ Medical & Law School
Teaching Experience
✦ Excellent Communicator

References Available

617-969-1393
www.doctorbenjamin.com
medlaw@doctorbenjamin.com
SEPTEMBER 2008

15

underlying crime. That criticism not only
animates the Court’s holding regarding
the definition of proceeds, but also reinforces the proposition that there must be
a sufficient distinction between the
underlying crime and the financial transaction. Santos, thus, provides additional
fodder for defense attorneys, particularly
where mail, wire, or bank fraud charges
serve as the basis for a money laundering
charge, or where the financial transaction, like a wire transfer, is part of the
underlying crime.
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II. Concealment Requires
‘Something More’
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Money laundering concealment
cases often involve allegations that someone is trying to conceal his or her connection to illegally obtained proceeds.84
From the defense perspective, these cases
often turn on one of two main issues: (1)
whether there is sufficient separation
between the underlying criminal conduct and the financial transaction, and
(2) whether there is sufficient evidence of
intent to conceal.85 Recently the Supreme
Court was asked whether any effort to
conceal proceeds of unlawful activity satisfied the concealment element or
whether something more was required.
The Supreme Court answered that much
more was required.
In United States v. Regalado Cuellar,86
petitioner was arrested following the discovery of $81,000 in cash under the floorboard of the car he was driving. He was
stopped while heading toward Mexico
and, along with other suspicious circumstances, a drug detection dog alerted to
cash from his shirt pocket and the rear of
the car, where the $81,000 was later found
hidden. Regalado Cuellar was charged
with attempting to transport the proceeds
of unlawful activity, knowing that the
transportation was designed “to conceal
or disguise the nature, the location, the
source, the ownership, or the control” of
the money in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§1956(a)(2)(B)(i). Following a two-day
trial, Regalado Cuellar was convicted.
On appeal, a divided panel of the
Fifth Circuit held that the government
must show more than Regalado Cuellar’s
concealment of the money because “that
statute required that the purpose of the
transportation itself must be to conceal
or disguise the unlawful proceeds.”87
Explained another way, the venture must
be undertaken intending to create the
appearance of legitimate wealth.88 On
rehearing en banc, the Fifth Circuit
vacated the panel’s opinion and reinstated Regalado Cuellar’s conviction. The
W W W. N A C D L . O R G

court did not require an attempt to create the appearance of legitimate wealth
and held that the statute was satisfied by
the extensive efforts made to prevent the
detection of the funds.89
Justice Thomas, writing for a unanimous court, rejected the argument that
the statute requires an attempt to create
the appearance of legitimate wealth.
While recognizing that this is a common
meaning of the term “money laundering,” the statue criminalizes a broader
range of conduct than only efforts to disguise the nature or source of illegal
funds. It also reaches transportation
designed to conceal or disguise the location, ownership, or control of illegal
money.90 As an illustration of this point,
Justice Thomas provided the following
example: “[A] defendant who smuggles
cash into Mexico with the intent of hiding it from authorities by burying it in
the desert may have engaged in transportation designed to conceal the location of the funds, but his conduct would
not necessarily have the effect of making
the funds appear legitimate.”91
Having explained what the statute
does not require, the Court turned to
what the statute does. The Court rejected
the government’s argument that the
statute only requires evidence of substantial efforts at concealment.92 Instead, it
focused on the word “designed” in the
language of the statute, which requires
that the accused know the transportation
is “designed” to “conceal or disguise the
nature, the location, the source, the ownership, or the control of the proceeds” of
specified unlawful activity.93 The Court
recognized that there were two senses in
which “designed” could be used. The first
means a plan or a scheme. The second
means a structure or arrangement. The
Fifth Circuit employed the second meaning when it cited to the packaging of the
money, its placement in a hidden compartment, and the efforts taken to mask
its scent “‘as aspects of the transportation’ that ‘were designed to conceal or
disguise’ the nature and location of the
cash.”94 The Court found it implausible
that Congress would intend this meaning
for “design.” The Court did not believe
the statute was intended to apply to “[a]
petty thief who hides money in his shoe
and then walks across the border to
spend the money in local bars,”95 or to a
person who “structured transportation
in a secretive way but lacked any criminal
intent. …”96 For the Court, the purpose of
the transportation is critical, not the
manner of the transportation.
The fact that Regalado Cuellar sought
to prevent the authorities from finding the

money he was transporting to Mexico
does not mean the purpose of taking the
money to Mexico was to conceal it. There
was no evidence that the purpose of taking
the money to Mexico was to hide it there.
In fact, the evidence presented at trial was
just the opposite; the purpose of the transportation was to compensate the leaders of
a drug smuggling operation. “The evidence suggest[s] that the secretive aspects
of the transportation were employed to
facilitate the transportation … but not
necessarily that secrecy was the purpose of
the transportation.”97 The Court concluded: “Although [the concealment] element
does not require proof that the defendant
attempted to create the appearance of
legitimate wealth, neither can it be satisfied
solely by evidence that a defendant concealed the funds during transport.”98
Regalado Cuellar reflects an entirely
new way of looking at money laundering prosecutions. Previously, in determining whether the statute had been
violated, courts focused on the efforts
that went into concealing or disguising a
transaction. The more extensive those
efforts or the more complex the transaction, the greater the likelihood that the
court would find an intent to conceal.
Thus, courts have upheld money laundering convictions involving complex
and elaborate schemes,99 but reversed
convictions where the financial transactions are unsophisticated or easily
traced by government investigators.100
The Seventh Circuit has been home
to many of these concealment money
laundering cases. That court affirmed no
fewer than nine cases under §
1956(a)(1)(B)(i) between 1991 and 2000
before overturning its first conviction.
Three cases involved the use of multiple
bank accounts.101 Straw people made purchases with illegally obtained money in
four cases.102 Records were falsified in two
cases.103 One case even involved a simple,
easy-to-follow money trail, but the conviction was still upheld due to the court’s
belief that the defendant tried to hide the
funds’ origins.104
To understand how the analysis of
these cases would be different under
Regalado Cuellar, consider the decision of
the Seventh Circuit in United States v.
Esterman.105 There, the defendant opened
a bank account in Illinois for use in
financing a business venture in Russia.106
He received large amounts of cash that
were transferred into the Illinois account,
but diverted those funds from the business to himself by sending money to two
separate banks through no less than 33
separate wire transfers.107 He disposed of
that money by withdrawing cash and
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extensive analysis of how the transaction
was structured. This is because it no
longer matters whether the mechanisms
employed are complex or simple. If the
transaction was not intended to conceal
the true nature, ownership, or location
of the funds, it is not money laundering.
Conversely, no matter how easy it is for
the authorities to discover the true
nature, ownership, or location of the
funds, if the purpose of the endeavor
was to conceal this information, it is
money laundering.
This is not to say that how a transaction is structured is irrelevant to the question of the defendant’s intent. Consider
the District of Columbia Circuit decision
in Adefehinti.119 The defendants, using fake
identities, flipped cheap properties in the
District of Columbia by purchasing them
at low prices and selling them to each
other at artificially high prices after securing bank loans to fund the purchases.120
Upon receiving bank loan checks, the
“straw buyers” would split the profits and
let the banks foreclose on the mortgages
they did not pay.121 A check from the “sale”
of one property formed the basis of the
initial money laundering convictions.122
The check was made payable to a fictional
buyer and endorsed in his name to a business account.123 The business account
name was likewise fabricated, but the
account number matched one defendant’s
actual business account.124 Upon cashing
the $41,010 check, $7,000 was withdrawn
as cash and the balance was deposited into
accounts held in two defendants’ names.125
One defendant then wrote checks out of
his business account to another.126
Based on evidence presented at trial,
and notwithstanding the use of a fictional
buyer, a fabricated business name, cash
proceeds, and layered transactions, the
court concluded that there was no indication that the defendants intended to conceal the financial transactions or their personal involvement in moving the money.127
The court noted that the defendants divided the proceeds by distributing cash or
depositing them directly into accounts
held under their legal names.128 This is as
far at the Court needed to go under
Regalado Cuellar. The remainder of the
court’s analysis, which addressed the ease
by which law enforcement could follow
the money trail, is no longer necessary.129
An earlier case from the District of
Columbia Circuit illustrates how even
simple transactions can constitute money
laundering. In United States v. Rouse,
defendant Donna Rouse knowingly
received from a co-conspirator checks
from the George Washington University
Health Plan to which she knew she was

not entitled. Rouse then accepted,
endorsed, and deposited these checks into
her account, but would later use the funds
for another co-conspirator’s, Richard
Gartmon’s, benefit.130 Rouse would buy
goods and services for Gartmon, even
though none of the checks bore
Gartmon’s name.131 The court concluded
that there was sufficient evidence of intent
to conceal because Rouse knew that the
money she was spending for Gartmon
was illegally obtained and she did not reference the true purpose of the checks on
the memo line (which was contrary to her
usual practice).132 Thus, notwithstanding
relatively simple and straightforward
financial transactions that were in all likelihood easily traced to Gartmon, the court
found that the defendant possessed the
requisite intent to conceal.

III. Sentencing in Money
Laundering Cases
It would also appear that defendants
in money laundering cases may be able to
obtain additional relief at sentencing.
Counsel should be aware of a recent
Seventh Circuit case, United States v.
Carter, affirming a § 3553(a) variance (not
a departure) from the guideline range that
was justified because, among other reasons, the case did not involve “heartland”
money laundering (i.e., organized crime
or drug trafficking).133 Although there was
a sizeable body of case law prior to the
amendment of the guidelines in 2001
regarding downward departures for this
type of non-heartland money laundering,134 this doctrine had been rarely
invoked in recent years. In Carter, the
analysis is resurrected, but as support for a
variance rather than a guideline departure.
Thus, to the extent that prosecutors will
continue to successfully bring money
laundering cases after Santos and Regalado
Cuellar, defense counsel — relying on
Carter, Kimbrough,135 the Sentencing
Commission’s 1997 report on money
laundering cases,136 and the plethora of
cases discussing the intended heartland for
money laundering cases137 — should argue
in non-racketeering and non-drug trafficking cases that defendants should be
sentenced below the otherwise applicable
guideline range.
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writing checks to at least three separate
people; one was made payable to a pawn
broker in the amount of $36,620.108 The
defendant’s claim was that there was
insufficient evidence of intent to conceal
because he merely transferred the funds to
“a separate account and then spent them
in an ‘open and notorious’ way.”109
The Seventh Circuit first reviewed
prior cases in which it had found sufficient evidence of intent to conceal. The
court noted that in each of these prior
cases, there had been a specific effort to
conceal funds.110 For example, in United
States v. Reynolds, the president of a union
siphoned off dues by diverting funds to a
personal account and altering the union’s
dues records to understate the amount of
dues collected.111 In finding intent to conceal, the court noted that it did not rely on
the alteration of the union records but
rather “on the fact that the defendant
‘used the [personal] account to conceal or
disguise the proceeds.’”112 In Hollenback v.
United States, the court found sufficient
intent to conceal where the defendant
crafted an “elaborate mortgage scheme”
that included “multiple irregular transfers
calculated to avoid reporting requirements, in an attempt to conceal the drugrelated origin of the funds.”113
In contrast, although the defendant
used multiple accounts in different states,
the court noted that Esterman “made no
effort to disguise or conceal” the withdrawals from the business account or the
ultimate destination of the funds.114
Contrasting the facts to those in
Hollenback, the court noted that “there
was nothing complicated about his disposition of the funds: to the contrary, he
simply made deposits into other bank
accounts that were correctly identified
and he engaged in some retail transactions.”115 In buttressing its conclusion that
the transactions lacked the requisite intent
to conceal, the court noted that “the prosecutors easily traced Esterman’s transfers
from one account to the other.”116
The Seventh Circuit attempted to reconcile its prior cases and Esterman by providing some basic criteria for evaluating
whether or not a case involves sufficient
intent to conceal. It noted such intent can
be found where there is “more than one
transaction, coupled with either direct evidence of intent to conceal or sufficiently
complex transactions that such an intent
could be inferred.”117 However, such intent
is lacking where, as in Esterman, there are
“simple transactions that can be followed
with relative ease, or transactions that
involve nothing but the initial crime.”118
Under Regalado Cuellar, the Court
would not have had to engage in such an

Conclusion
For many years, it has seemed as if
the scope of the money laundering statute
was virtually limitless. Every financial
transaction that followed a crime that
reaped an economic benefit seemed to
provide prosecutors with ammunition to
SEPTEMBER 2008
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threaten money laundering and, in so
doing, leverage plea agreements. Until
recently, where defendants were charged
and convicted of money laundering, very
few convictions were reversed for insufficient evidence. While it is too soon to
declare that the tide has turned, there is
certainly a basis for reinvigorated representation in these kinds of cases, particularly where there is an insufficient distinction between the underlying crime and
the financial transaction, where the financial transaction does not involve “profit,”
or where the “concealment” is not the ultimate intent of the transaction.
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